IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-01843

RESTAURANT OF HATTIESBURG, LLC; JIM SCHAFER; and COURTNEY BRICK

APPELLANTS

VS.

HOTEL & RESTAURANT SUPPLY, INC.

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

HICKS & BENNETT PLLC 211 South 29th Avenue, Suite 201 (39401) Post Office Box 18350 Hattiesburg, MS 39404-8350

Telephone: (601) 544-6770 Facsimile: (601) 544-6775

Email: <u>clark@hicksandbennett.com</u> <u>lane@hicksandbennett.com</u>

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

This Court needs to reaffirm the sacred protections of a corporate veil. The trial court mistakenly gave no respect to the generations old law shielding individuals from corporate debt.

There are also novel issues of law pertaining to *res judicata*, collateral estoppel and the statute of limitations in the context of corporate veil piercing claims.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment and unilaterally piercing the corporate veil despite numerous genuine issues of material fact?
- II. Did the trial court err in piercing the corporate veils of companies not joined in this action, which are necessary and indispensable parties?
- III. Is Plaintiff's claim to pierce the corporate veil barred by res judicata and/or collateral estoppel through the previous judgment on the underlying debt obtained in Lamar County Circuit Court Cause No. 2006-314H, Hotel and Restaurant Supply, Inc. v. Restaurant of Jackson, LLC; SouthEastern Restaurants, LLC; and John Does 1 through 10?
- IV. Is Plaintiff's claim barred by the statute of limitations and/or laches?
- V. Did the trial court err in sanctioning Defendants in this case for alleged discovery violations in a separate case, Lamar County Circuit Court Cause No. 2006-314H?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case

The Plaintiff is Hotel & Restaurant Supply, Inc. (HRS), a distributor of restaurant equipment. HRS filed a separate lawsuit for unpaid invoices against SouthEastern Restaurants, LLC and Restaurant of Jackson, LLC. The Lamar County Circuit Court case number is 2006-314H. HRS obtained a judgment against those two corporate Defendants in the separate action. In an attempt to collect the judgment, HRS filed a second suit to pierce the corporate veils of the corporate Defendants. The second suit named a separate company, Restaurant of Hattiesburg, LLC, and two individual Defendants, Jim Schafer and Courtney Brick. The trial judge unilaterally pierced the corporate veils of SouthEastern and Restaurant of Jackson, and entered a monetary judgment against Schafer and Brick as well as the separate company, Restaurant of Hattiesburg, LLC. Aggrieved by this action, Schafer, Brick and Restaurant of Hattiesburg appealed.

2. <u>Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below</u>

HRS sued SouthEastern Restaurants and Restaurant of Jackson in Lamar County Circuit Court, in cause 2006-314H for claimed unpaid invoices. HRS successfully obtained summary judgment against those defendants on October 30, 2007. After post judgment collection efforts, HRS sought to add Restaurant of Hattiesburg, Schafer, and Brick as additional defendants to that case, but was ultimately unsuccessful because the motion to add additional defendants was brought after final judgment had been entered. Order in Cause 2006-314H, R. at 156. The Order confirming the final judgment and denying the attempt to add parties expressly states "this Court's Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment filed October 30, 2007, was a final judgment as to *all issues* as to *all the parties* brought by the Plaintiff in this case." *Id.*

After the failed attempt to add defendants in the 2006 cause, HRS filed this separate, new suit against Restaurant of Hattiesburg, Schafer, and Brick. This case, although cloaked as a new independent veil-piercing claim, is founded upon the same underlying debt previously litigated in the first action, and is nothing more than a second attempt to circumvent the rules relating to substitution of parties.

HRS filed its motion for summary judgment in this case on January 13, 2010. Restaurant of Hattiesburg, Schafer and Brick filed their cross motion for summary judgment on July 12, 2010. After supplemental briefing, a hearing was held on these motions on October 25, 2010. Separate orders granting Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and denying Defendants' motion for summary judgment were entered on November 3, 2010. Notice of Appeal was filed on November 9, 2010.

3. Statement of the Facts

Jim Schafer and Cory Brick are shareholders of several restaurant businesses. They invested in two Copeland's restaurants, one in Jackson (Restaurant of Jackson, LLC) and one in Hattiesburg (Restaurant of Hattiesburg, LLC). These restaurants specialized in New Orleans style Cajun cuisine.

Both businesses operated as a Copeland's restaurant, one in Hattiesburg and one in Jackson, making management and operations of the two stores similar. Due to the commonalities of the two restaurants, Schafer and Brick organized a separate company to handle administrative accounting functions, SouthEastern Restaurants, LLC. SouthEastern efficiently managed the accounting of payroll, receivables and payables for the two restaurants. Judgment Debtor Examination, R. at 69, P. 39:9. Despite operational similarities, Restaurant of Jackson and Restaurant of Hattiesburg remained separate entities. R. at 64, P. 19:25-20:7. Each

company was located in a separate city and maintained separate equipment, supplies and employees.

Schafer and Brick intended to open more Copeland's restaurants across the Southern states, with the same administrative tasks to be handled by SouthEastern. Unfortunately, this goal was never realized. The Copeland's in Jackson did not sustain itself and was forced to close in 2006. R. at 76, P. 68. Restaurant of Hattiesburg remained operational a little while longer, but was also forced to close its Hattiesburg restaurant for the same reasons. *Id.* With the closing of the Copeland's restaurants, Schafer and Brick discontinued SouthEastern's administrative assignments.

During the operation of the Restaurant of Jackson, the store purchased certain supplies from HRS on a revolving basis. Restaurant of Jackson had a separate individual account from Restaurant of Hattiesburg and HRS invoiced it periodically. HRS 30(b)(6) Deposition, R. at 262, P. 68. There is no dispute that HRS clearly invoiced and sought payment from Restaurant of Jackson, LLC, a corporate entity, and never sought payment or looked to Restaurant of Hattiesburg, or Schafer or Brick individually for payment on items purchased by Restaurant of Jackson. R. at 259, P. 53; Invoices, R. at 158-161.

At some point, a dispute arose between HRS and Restaurant of Jackson concerning the legitimacy of purchase orders and the legitimacy of the shipment of invoiced items to the Jackson store. Multiple meetings were held to discuss these discrepancies, but Restaurant of Jackson ultimately agreed to pay for the majority of the disputed amounts. R. at 249, P. 15:7. At one point, Schafer wrote HRS a letter discussing his concerns and the business's good faith effort to pay for items legitimately owed. Letter to HRS, R. at 172. Despite multiple evidence of good faith and a complete lack of evidence of bad faith, HRS claims that Restaurant of Jackson "defrauded" it by failing to make account payments.

HRS sued Restaurant of Jackson and Southeastern Restaurants in Lamar County Circuit Court in Cause 2006-314H on their account and obtained summary judgment. After judgment was entered, HRS pursued post judgment collection, including conducting a judgment debtor examination. HRS then attempted to add Restaurant of Hattiesburg, Schafer and Brick as addition defendants to that case for the purpose of obtaining additional pockets to satisfy the judgment. When this attempt proved unsuccessful, HRS brought this separate "veil piercing" action.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Summary judgment was wrongly granted because there are triable issues of material fact concerning HRS's veil piercing claim. Most significantly, there was no confusion over who HRS looked to for payment because HRS invoiced Restaurant of Jackson, LLC, and the entities observed proper corporate formalities because they established officers, kept separate accounting records, filed tax returns, and filed certificates of formation with the Mississippi Secretary of state. There is no evidence that any of the companies were used for personal benefit or otherwise used as alter egos.

HRS previously attempted to add Restaurant of Hattiesburg, LLC, Schafer, and Brick as party defendants in Lamar County Circuit Court cause 2006-314H, but was procedurally barred because final judgment had been rendered. Plaintiff could have and should have brought any additional claims in the 2006 case, but is now barred by *res judicata* and collateral estoppel, which bar not only claims which were brought, but could have been brought. HRS is also now time barred by the three year statute of limitations and laches.

ARGUMENT

Strong public policy disfavors piercing a corporate veil. "Mississippi case law generally favors maintaining corporate entities and avoiding attempts to pierce the corporate veil." *Gray v.*

Edgewater Landing, Inc., 541 So. 2d 1044, 1047 (Miss. 1989). "[T]he cardinal rule of corporate law is that a corporation possesses a legal existence separate and apart from that of its officers and shareholders." Id. "As do most courts, this Court has reserved piercing the corporate veil for factual circumstances which are clearly extraordinary-where to do otherwise would 'subvert the ends of justice." Johnson & Higgins of Mississippi, Inc. v. Commissioner of Insurance, 321 So. 2d 281, 284 (Miss. 1975). "Among this Court's reports may be found a long string of decisions reflecting our law's commitment to the legal integrity of the corporate entity-and the concomitant limited liability of shareholders." Gray, 541 So. 2d at 1046-47. "Courts do not take piercing of the corporate veil lightly because of the chilling effect it has on corporate risk-taking." Buchanan v. Ameristar Casino Vicksburg, Inc., 957 So. 2d 969, 978 (Miss. 2007).

I. <u>Summary Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff was in err because there is sufficient record evidence demonstrating triable issues of fact on Plaintiff's claim to pierce the corporate veil.</u>

The trial court in this case weighed the evidence and made credibility determinations in granting summary judgment instead of using the evidence to evaluate the existence of triable issues. Summary Judgment is reviewed *de novo* and is only appropriate where the evidence before the Court "shows there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. This Court does not try issues on a Rule 56 motion, but only determines whether there are issues to be tried." *Miss. Gaming Comm'n v. Treasured Arts*, 699 So. 2d 936, 938 (Miss. 1997). "It is not our duty to weigh the competing evidence; it is our duty to determine if there is conflicting evidence for trial." *Estate of Johnson v. Chatelain ex rel. Chatelain*, 943 So. 2d 684, 687 (Miss. 2006). The evidence is considered in a light most favorable to the nonmovant, with the movant bearing the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issues of material fact exist for presentation to the trier of fact. *Harmon v. Regions*

Bank, 961 So. 2d 693, 697 (Miss. 2007). "If any triable issues of material fact exist, the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment will be reversed." *Id.*

In order to pierce a corporate veil, the Plaintiff must demonstrate

(a) some frustration of contractual expectations regarding the party to whom he looked for performance; (b) the flagrant disregard of corporate formalities by the defendant corporation and its principals; (c) a demonstration of fraud or other equivalent misfeasance on the part of the corporate shareholder.

Gray, 541 So. 2d at 1047.

A. Record evidence demonstrates HRS did not experience frustration of contractual expectation because it knew it was dealing with a corporate entity from the beginning of the contractual arrangement.

Frustration of contractual expectation occurs when a party enters into a contract that ambiguously identifies the obligor or the contract allows for a guarantee. *Rosson v. McFarland*, 962 So. 2d 1279, 1286-88. (Miss. 2007). The frustration of contractual expectation occurs in the confusion over the party responsible for fulfilling the contract. *Id.* It is also a long standing tenet of corporate law that an agent acting for a disclosed principal incurs no individual liability, as there is no confusion over the obligated party. *Gardner v. Jones*, 464 So. 2d 1144, 1151 (Miss. 1985). *See Gray* 541 So. 2d at 1046(stating "Since contract liability arises from an essentially consensual relationship, courts generally decline to disregard the corporate entity...").

In *Rosson*, the evidence showed that the plaintiff "did not contract with [defendant] individually for performance or require [defendant] to guarantee the performance." 962 So. 2d at 1286. Based upon this consideration, the Mississippi Supreme Court concluded that the plaintiff failed to satisfy the first prong of frustration of contractual expectation. *Id.*

Similarly, in *Richardson*, "there [was] no arguable basis to conclude that [plaintiff] either actually believed or was justified in believing that [defendant] was personally guaranteeing the contract's performance." *Richardson v. Jenkins Builders, Inc.*, 737 So. 2d 1030, 1032 (Miss.

App. 1999). Without such evidence, the Court refused to grant the "extraordinary" remedy of piercing the corporate veil.

In evaluating the first factor in *Gray*, the Court stated that "[defendant] had no doubt that he was contracting with a corporate party." 541 So. 2d at 1047. The Mississippi Supreme Court found that in such a case, there was insufficient proof to pierce a corporate veil. *Id.*

In this case, the evidence before the trial court showed that HRS contracted with Restaurant of Jackson, LLC, and looked only to it for payment, which, at a minimum, established a disputed, triable issue concerning HRS's contractual expectations. The best evidence of who HRS looked to for payment and who it believed was a party to the contract is its very own invoices. Defendants submitted as an exhibit to their response to Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment multiple HRS invoices clearly seeking payment from Restaurant of Jackson, LLC. R. at 158 to 161. HRS conceded in response to this evidence that, "[a]s the Defendants point out, the initial invoice listed Restaurants of Jackson, LLC and one could construe that, under the U.C.C., a contract was formed between the Plaintiffs and Restaurant of Jackson, LLC." R. at 181.

There is no evidence that Schafer or Brick personally guaranteed payment or were a party to the contract for the purchase and payment of restaurant supplies. To the contrary, the store managers at Restaurant of Jackson, LLC purchased the supplies. HRS 30(b)(6) Deposition, R. at 250, P. 17:15. HRS did not meet with or talk with Schafer until a dispute arose over the legitimacy of invoiced items, which was long after the items had been purchased, shipped, and invoiced. R. at 253, P. 30:20, 31:10. HRS was asked in their 30(b)(6) deposition,

- Q: Well, you didn't expect Jim Schafer to pay for it, did you?
- A: I didn't know Jim Schafer at that point in time.
- Q: So you didn't expect him to pay for it?

A: I suppose not.

Q: Or Courtney Brick?

A: I still don't know him.

R. at 258, P. 51:1. Since HRS did not know of Schafer or Brick prior to the offer, acceptance, purchase order, shipment, receipt, and invoicing, there can be no claim that HRS was somehow confused over their involvement as a party to the contract. Schafer and Brick were also never subsequently invoiced for items purchased by Restaurant of Jackson, LLC. R. at 253, P. 29:21 to 30:11. HRS knew that the items it sold were business supplies and it had no opinion or belief that they would be used personally by Schafer or Brick. R. 258, P. 49:9.

HRS is a sophisticated business that routinely obtains collateral and personal guarantees for items sold on credit. R. at 256, P. 44:13. This includes obtaining corporate information and filing UCC-1 financing statements under the correct name. Id. Despite this routine practice and industry knowledge and experience, HRS never attempted to secure a personal guarantee from Schafer or Brick. R. at 253, P. 44:13. HRS never even inquired into the identity of the owners/shareholders at any point during their business relationship. R. at 258, P. 51:25. Therefore, there is no claim that a collateral agreement, personal guarantee, let alone any communication with Schafer and Brick, created confusing ambiguity over the parties to the agreement. HRS failure to investigate and obtain personal guarantees not only weighs against their argument of frustration of contractual expectation, but it also evidences their assumption of the normal risks of business. See Richardson, 737 So. 2d at 1032 (stating "it was within [plaintiff's] power to investigate the financial strength and prior business dealings of [the defendant] and take appropriate means to safeguard against the ever-present possibility of nonperformance by that corporation. That he did not is no reason to extend the corporation's liability to individuals acting on behalf of the corporation").

Two separate affidavits before the Court, one by Courtney Brick and the other by Jim Schafer, set forth evidence that HRS knew that it was dealing with only Restaurant of Jackson, LLC, a corporate entity. Brick states,

- 6. Hotel & Restaurant Supply, Inc. supplied some of the materials and equipment purchased by Restaurant of Jackson, LLC. Restaurant of Jackson, LLC made a good faith effort to pay invoices if they were due and owing, some of which were disputed in the original action. Nevertheless, Hotel & Restaurant Supply, Inc. knew at all times that it was dealing [with] corporate entities, Restaurant of Jackson, LLC and SouthEastern Restaurants, LLC. At no time was Restaurant of Hattiesburg, LLC involved with any of the transactions between Hotel & Restaurant Supply, Inc. and Restaurant of Jackson, LLC. Hotel & Restaurant Supply, Inc. invoiced Restaurant of Jackson, LLC and clearly understood that they were dealing with a corporate entity.
- 7. I did not personally guarantee the purchases and credit extended by Hotel & Restaurant Supply, Inc. to Restaurant of Jackson, LLC, nor did my partner, Jim Schafer. All transactions were based on the credit of Restaurant of Jackson, LLC. Hotel & Restaurant Supply, Inc. had the option of obtaining a personal guarantee, which it did not.

R. at 163. Schafer discussed in his affidavit the process in which the supplies were purchased and paid for by Restaurant of Jackson, LLC and the involvement of employees and managers. R. at 471 to 472. At no point were Schafer and Brick acting in their individual capacities. *Id.*These affidavits, which are based upon the facts of the purchasing procedure and the facts contained in the invoices, establish a genuine issue of material fact. HRS did not raise any objection to these affidavits in a motion to strike, so any objections were waived. *Board of Educ. of Calhoun County v. Warner*, 853 So. 2d 1159, 1163 (Miss. 2003). As such, the Court should have considered them, even if they were somehow defective. *Id.*

B. All entities observed corporate formalities.

In order to pierce a corporate veil, there must be a "*flagrant* disregard of corporate formalities." Gray, 541 So. 2d at 1047(emphasis added). Limited liability companies were

statutorily created in 1994. This relatively new type of entity was created to facilitate business development and investment by reducing legal formalities for creating and maintaining companies. For this reason, archaic common law decisions concerning corporate formalities, in the context of veil-piercing, do not apply. See generally Encyclopedia of Mississippi Law Chap. 49 § 9("that the typically applied common law rule regarding strict construction of statutory obligations does not apply to the limited liability company act"); Miss. Code Ann. § 79-29-1201. For example, there is no requirement to keep minutes and the failure to keep records does not work to invoke individual liability. Miss. Code Ann. § 79-29-115; *compare with* Miss. Code Ann. § 79-4-16.01. Although statutory formalities have evolved, common law guidance is still helpful.

In *Rosson*, the Court noted that, although three businesses operated from the same street address and used the same phone number, corporate formalities were followed because the plaintiff knew the officers of the corporation, separate accounting records were kept, separate tax returns were filed, and all were licensed by the Secretary of State to do business. 962 So. 2d at 1286-87.

Additionally,

The mere fact that one owns all the stock of the other, or substantially all, is not enough to warrant disregard, in the absence of some fraudulent purpose; nor is the fact that there was an opportunity to exercise control. Furthermore the fact that the shareholders of the two corporations are the same is not of itself sufficient to treat the two corporations as one.

Buchanan, 957 at 978.

Like *Rosson*, the entities in this case observed corporate formalities by establishing officers, keeping separate accounting records, filing tax returns, and filing certificates of formation with the Mississippi Secretary of state. Brick states in his affidavit that:

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