IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-01843

RESTAURANT OF HTTIESBURG, LLC; JIM SCHAFER; and COURTNEY BRICK

VS.

HOTEL & RESTAURANT SUPPLY, INC.

APPELLANTS

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

GLOVER, YOUNG, WALTON & SIMMONS, PLLC 1724-A 23rd Avenue Post Office Drawer 5514 Meridian, MS 39302-5514 Telephone: 601-693-1301 Telecopier: 601-693-1363 Email: stephen@gloveryoung.com

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

Ponderosa Development Corp. v. Bjordahl, 787 F.2d 533, 5 Fed. R. Serv. 3d (LCP) 696 (10th Cir. 1986); Carpenter Paper Co. of Nebraska v. Lakin Meat Processors, Inc., 231 Neb. 93, 435 N.W.2d 179 (Neb. 1989); Belleville v. Hanby, 152 Mich. App. 548, 394 N.W.2d 412 (1986); Wm. Passalacqua Builders, Inc. v. Resnick Developers South, Inc., 608 F. Supp. 1261 (S.D.N.Y. 1985); Matthews Const. Co., Inc. v. Rosen, 796 S.W.2d 692 (Tex. 1990). In each of these cases cited in this paragraph, each plaintiff obtained a judgment against a corporate entity and was unable to collect on the judgment. Each plaintiff was then allowed to file a subsequent separate lawsuit against those behind the corporation to satisfy the judgment. Therefore, Defendants' claim that HRS is barred per se due to res judicata and collateral estoppel is not correct. Plaintiff is well within the law to pursue the current action to satisfy its previous judgment.

Defendants' assertion that the Plaintiff's failure to conduct alter ego discovery in the initial proceeding somehow disqualifies the Plaintiff from bringing a separate action is disingenuous and holds no merit. In fact, the Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit addressed this very issue in *Ponderosa Development Corp. v. Bjordahl*, 787 F.2d 533, 5 Fed. R. Serv. 3d (LCP) 696 (10th Cir. 1986). In this case, the Court noted that it was unreasonable to allow the principles of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel to force a plaintiff to conduct alter ego research in the initial action. See *Ponderosa Development Corp.*, 787 F.2d at 537. Even if Defendants were correct in their assertion that alter ego discovery is required in the initial action, none of the material sought would have been discoverable because it was not relevant to the initial action. Defendants agree with this analysis as, in the current action they objected to the production of the financial records of other entities owned by Courtney Brick and Jim Schafer. They claimed in their Motion for *In Camera* Review, "[d]iscovery of unrelated entities is irrelevant and is not reasonable calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence." R. at 484. Furthermore,

Defendants stated that "financial information [of the defendants] is not necessary for the prosecution of plaintiff's claim" and felt that the trial court should have entered an order "prohibiting the disclosure of this information until a determination is made on the underlying claim." *Id.* Therefore, Defendants are trying to blame plaintiff for not getting information in the Original Action that they deem to be irrelevant and undiscoverable.

HRS first learned about the Defendants' corporate malfeasance in a judgment debtor examination on September 11, 2008, which was subsequent to the judgment entered against the Judgment Debtors. Prior to the judgment debtor exam, HRS had no way of knowing that Restaurant of Jackson, LLC, Restaurant of Hattiesburg, LLC and Southeastern Restaurants, LLC were operating as the same corporate entity by commingling funds without accounting or segregation, as well as combing gross sales receipts from all of them to determine income of Southeastern Restaurants, LLC.

Prior to getting a judgment against the Judgment Debtors and giving HRS the platform of a judgment debtor exam, any attempt by HRS to get discovery about Restaurant of Hattiesburg, LLC, Courtney Brick or Jim Schafer would have been denied. To hold any plaintiff to such a standard that it should have conducted alter ego discovery against a defendant corporation without any basis whatsoever (since this information could have only been discovered after a judgment) is unreasonable.

IV. This Matter Should Not Be Dismissed Pursuant to Statute of Limitations and/or Laches

As stipulated by Defendants in their Brief, there is no Mississippi case on point for the issue of statute of limitations or laches with regard to subsequent piercing the veil actions. However, the law in other jurisdictions makes it is clear that if a plaintiff chooses to file a new piercing the veil action after obtaining a judgment against the corporation and finding it uncollectible, the proper limitations period is that applicable to the enforcement of judgments. *Dudley v. Smith*, 504 F.2d 979 (5th Cir. 1974); *U.S. v. Clawson Medical Rehabilitation and Pain Care Center, P.C.*, 722 F. Supp. 1468, 27 Soc. Sec. Rep. Serv. 465 (E.D. Mich. 1989); *Belleville v. Hanby*, 152 Mich. App. 548 (1986). "It is established that an action may be brought against an alter ego defendant after the statute of limitations applicable to the cause of action alleged in the original complaint has expired." *Hennessey's Tavern, Inc. v. American Air Filter Co.*, 204 Cal. App. 3d 1351, 1359 (Cal. App. 1988) (citing *Most Worshipful Sons v. Sons Etc. Lodge*, 160 Cal.App.2d 560, 564-567, 569 and *Taylor v. Newton*, 117 Cal.App.2d 752, 757. See also *Belleville v. Hanby*, 152 Mich. App. 548, 394 N.W.2d 412 (1986); *Wm. Passalacqua Builders, Inc. v. Resnick Developers South, Inc.*, 608 F. Supp. 1261 (S.D.N.Y. 1985).

The *Belleville* and *Wm. Passalacqua Builders* cases are directly on point to the current issue before this Court. In both of these cases, the plaintiffs were successful in obtaining a judgment against a corporate entity. Upon being unable to collect on the judgment, subsequent separate lawsuits were filed against other parties on a piercing the veil theory. It should also be noted that in *Belleville*, the facts specifically state the subsequent lawsuit was filed after learning new information in a creditor examination, thus rejecting the claim of Defendants that Plaintiff's claim should be dismissed under laches. In both the *Belleville* and *Passalacqua Builders* cases, it was determined that the appropriate limitations period was that applicable to the enforcement of judgments. See also *U.S. v. Clawson Medical Rehabilitation and Pain Care Center*, P.C., 722 F. Supp. 1468 (E.D. Mich. 1989). The judgment limitations period is appropriate because "an attempt to pierce the corporate veil is not itself a cause of action but rather is a means of imposing liability on an underlying cause of action, such as a tort or breach of contract." 1

William Meade Fletcher, *Fletcher Cyclopedia of the Law of Private Corporations* §41.28 (1999). According to Mississippi law, "[a]ll actions founded on any judgment or decree rendered by any court of record in this state, shall be brought within seven years next after the rendition of such judgment or decree, and not after" Miss Code Ann. §15-1-43. Therefore, Plaintiff was well within the statute of limitations to proceed with the current action.

In the alternative to the proper limitations period being that applicable to the enforcement of judgments, the filing of a lawsuit against a corporation should toll the statute of limitations as to the alter ego of the corporation. Matthews Const. Co., Inc. v. Rosen, 796 S.W.2d 692 (Tex. 1990); also see Gentry v. Credit Plan Corp., 528 S.W. 2d 571 (Tex. 1975). In Matthews Const., there were identical circumstances to the case at bar in that, the plaintiff ("Matthews") sued a corporate entity ("Houston Pipe") for breach of contract and secured a judgment, which Matthews was unable to collect. Matthews filed a separate subsequent suit against an individual defendant ("Rosen") under a pierce the veil theory to collect on the previous judgment against Houston Pipe. The Texas Supreme Court tolled the limitations in its suit against Rosen based on equity, which was "the same equitable considerations that allow for piercing the corporate veil generally.... When the corporate form is used as an essentially unfair device – when it is used as a sham – courts may act in equity and disregard the usual rules of law in order to avoid an inequitable result." Matthew Const. Co., 796 S.W.2d at 692. The court went on to provide an analysis that is directly on point to the case at bar as to the role of statute of limitations with regard to piercing the veil claims.

A statute of limitations serves primarily to compel the assertion of a cause of action within a reasonable time so that the opposing party has a fair opportunity to defend while witnesses are available. It prevents the bringing of stale claims. Matthews' claim against Houston Pipe is not stale because Matthews has already pursued that claim to judgment. Neither is Matthews' claim against Rosen stale because Rosen is simply Houston Pipe's "other self" -- he is not a legally separate entity from Houston Pipe. To apply limitations under these circumstances would fail to serve the underlying purpose of limitations and instead would be a purely formal exercise. (citations omitted).

At the same time, if we were to apply limitations under these circumstances, it would effectively permit the corporate form to be used as a "cloak for fraud." We will not permit the law to be used for unlawful ends. The same considerations that justified tolling limitations in *Gentry* also justify tolling limitations under the circumstances presented here. We therefore hold that once Matthews filed suit against Houston Pipe in June 1979, limitations was tolled as to Houston Pipe's alter ego until final judgment. Because the running of limitations was tolled during the pendency of Matthews' suit against Houston Pipe, Matthews' suit against Rosen is not barred. (citations omitted).

Matthews Const. Co., Inc. v. Rosen, 796 S.W.2d 692, 693 (Tex. 1990).

V. The trial court's decision to pierce the corporate was based on material undisputed facts irrespective that Defendants failed to comply with discovery.

The trial court's decision to grant the HRS's Motion for Summary Judgment and pierce

the corporate veil was not based solely on the fact that the Judgment Debtors defied the court order to bring various documents to the judgment debtor exam. Rather, the court stated that it "has read, over the last multiple years . . . everything that has presented to me" (Transcript, p. 22) and that "in my opinion, based on - - the three prongs of *Gray* have been met: frustration of contractual expectation, flagrant disregard of corporate formalities, and at the very least, malfeasance and, in all likelihood, fraud." Transcript, p. 23. Any insinuation that the trial Court's decision to grant summary judgment was not based on Mississippi law or was meant to sanction the Defendants for not cooperating during a prior judgment debtor examination is without merit.

It is true that HRS mentioned the Defendants' conduct during the prior judgment debtor examination to illustrate the fact that Defendants did not give evidence of accounting or segregating the assets of the entities, but it was not HRS's "primary argument" to satisfy the corporate formalities element of piercing the corporate veil. From its inception, HRS's argument relevant to the corporate formalities element has been based on the commingling of assets between the Defendants' three corporate entities (Restaurants of Jackson, LLC, Restaurants of Hattiesburg, LLC and Southeastern Restaurants, LLC) without accounting or segregation and the treatment of the entities as a single enterprise. In its Motion of Summary Judgment, HRS pointed to the fact that the Defendants' three corporate entities were operated out of a single checking account without accounting or segregating funds by stating,

...Courtney Brick was able to testify in great detail about the history of commingling assets between various business entities owned by Jim Schafer and Courtney Brick, which is yet another blatant disregard for corporate or limited liability company formalities. This included testimony that Restaurants of Jackson, LLC, Southeastern Restaurants, LLC and Restaurants of Hattiesburg, LLC operated out of the same checking account as a single enterprise ([Motion for Summary Judgment] Exhibit "D", p. 4-7). There can be no greater example of commingling assets that three (3) separate companies operating out of a single checking account for a common business purpose with no accounting, segregation, or company formalities when depositing or distributing money from said account...

Again, during oral argument, counsel for HRS argued that commingling of asset between the three corporate entities without accounting or segregation of funds was evidence of a flagrant disregard of corporate formalities when he stated, "There is no way that they observed any sort of corporate formality, because its one checking account. They can not segregate it. They don't know what's coming in, they don't know what's going out." Transc., p. 9.

Likewise, the trial court did not base its decision to grant HRS's Motion for Summary on the mere fact that the Defendants' were not cooperating during the judgment debtor examination. Instead, the trial court addressed the issues before the Court and the facts that supported its decision. The trial court agreed with HRS's argument that there was a sufficient showing that the Defendants showed a disregard for corporate formalities by commingling assets between three corporate entities. Specifically, the trial court stated,

... you can not intermingle the responsibilities without finding consequences. They must maintain each corporate entity with the integrity of that corporation being maintained as a viable company. And when you start intermingling, then there are consequences. I certainly don't believe they adhered to corporate policy or corporate laws and responsibilities.

Transcript P. 24. Granted, the trial court later mentioned that the Defendants' uncooperative behavior during the discovery process was "inexcusable", but it in no way ruled that the Defendants' shortcomings during discovery were the basis of its decision to grant HRS's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Defendants' argument on this issue stems from a perceived factual similarity between the facts this case and the facts in *Rosson*. However, the factual scenario in *Rosson* differs from the facts of this case in that HRS is able to satisfy the corporate formalities element without evidence that Defendants did not produce tax returns at the judgment debtor exam. In *Rosson*, the Mississippi Supreme Court overturned Hancock County Circuit Court's decision to grant summary judgment that, in effect, pierced the corporate veil of a home builder. *Rosson*, 962 So. 2d at 1283 In attempting to prove that Defendant in *Rosson* showed a "flagrant disregard for corporate formalities", the Plaintiff was only able to offer evidence that the Defendant was unable to produce certain tax returns during her deposition. On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court decided that evidence that the Defendant could not produce certain tax returns during her deposition was not evidence that the tax returns or books did not exist and that the Plaintiff's attempt to prove that the Defendant did not adhere to corporate was "weak".

Id at 1287. In fact, the Defendant in *Rosson* maintained separate checking accounts for her various corporate entities. Unlike the Plaintiff in *Rosson*, HRS is able to show that the Defendants did not adhere to corporate formalities by not maintaining separate checking accounts, irrespective of the fact that the Defendants were not able to offer certain documentation during the judgment debtor deposition. In making their argument on this issue, the Defendants seem to ignore Courtney Brick's testimony at the judgment debtor exam when he made it very clear that the three corporate entities were being operated out of the same checking account (Exam. P. 5-7) without any explanation for monies coming in or out. R. at 133-134, p. 7-9; R. at 142-145, p. 44-53; R. at 147-149, p. 62-72. This evidence was provided to the trial court and was a basis for its decision to grant the HRS's Motion for Summary Judgment and pierce the corporate veil. Therefore, the trial court's decision to grant HRS's Motion for Summary Judgment was based on substantial evidence and was, by no means, a way to sanction the Defendants for their behavior during discovery.

CONCLUSION

Summary judgment in favor of HRS should be affirmed because there are no genuine issues of material fact as to any element of the veil piercing claim and all three prongs of *Gray v*. *Edgewater Landing, Inc.*, 541 So. 2d 1044, 1046 (Miss. 1989) were met. Furthermore, all proper parties were joined, Plaintiff's claim is not barred by res judicata or collateral estoppel, and the veil piercing claim is timely and not barred by the statute of limitations.